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"TERRACE HILL"

The aqreat hrick house built bv John L. Peifsnider, Sr., in 1873
is probably the largest, and certainlv the most impressive house in the
Citv; that it is still able to impress bv size and location (it is on a
small hill overlooking the City) is a testament to its architect and builder,
esnecially when one sees how much nlainer the house is todavy than it was
originallv. Pasicallv the house todav consists of two 2% storv cubes whose
solidness is broken hv several steenly nitched qables and bv a chateau-like
steen roof (“chateau" in the style of . M, Hunt.) The house's dozens of
rooms remained in the family until taken over kv Vestern Marvland Colleqe
in the 172n's. Photoaraphs and drawinas of “Terrace Hill" made hefore its
academic career beaan, reveal an attemnt to create a villa suburbana on the
west of YWestminster. Peifsnider constructed on his 4% acre lot, an elaborate
comnound of areenhouses, 5 storv windmill, and, of course fine stables. The
Tot was handsomelv landscaned and had a varietv of lawn ornaments: cast iron
animals, and an iron and stone 3-tiered fountain.

The builder of the house, John Lawrence Peifsnider, Sr., was horn
in Yestminster in 1936 of Termanic stock that emiarated from the Palatinate
to Philadelnhia around 1771, His ancestors moved, in a manner tvnical of a
large seament of Westminster's nooulation, westwards from Philadelnhia throuah
southern Pennsvlvania arriving in Carroll Countv around 1800, DPeifsnider made
a fortune in the wholesale and retail trade, a fortune that was increased hv
his son John L. Peifsnider, Jr. (whn inherited "Terrace Hi11") as he founded
and directed the Smith and Peifsnider Lumher Companv, an oraanization that
still thrives todav.
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The great brick house built by John L. Reifsnider, Sr. in 1873
is nrohably the largest, and certainly the most impressive, house in the
City; that it is still able to impress bv size and location is a testament
to its architect and builder, especiallv when one sees how much plainer
the house is todav than it was originally. Basically, the house today
consists of two ?%-storv cubes whose solidness is broken by several
steeply-pitched aables. The orincipal (eastern) cube measures about 40
x 40" x 40', Its eastern {(entrance) facade is three bays wide above a
hiagh course fieldstone foundation. The center of this facade is defined
by the remains of a porch that once covered the facade, the entrance doors,
and the lower section of a large square tower. The entrance doors are
half-glass, half-wood double doors with elaborately cast brass hardware.
They are located beneath a two-door, arched transom which is also double.
The norch 1is hipned roofed, and is supported by four, finely-turned, white-
painted, wood columns; elaborate tracery forms a segmental arch on each
of the three exposed sides. The tower has one double-hung sash window on
its east facade; the window has two over two panes, white wooden sills and
a brick Tudor arch. The tower was originally topped by what apnears to
have been (judaina from old photoaranhs) a 27' obelisk. However, the
obelisk has lona been destroyed. Interesting brickwork marks what is now
the ton of the tower, and what was oriainally the center: white-nainted
molded bricks are arranged in crosses across the front of the tower's east
facade in a pattern that resembles clustered chimneys of Tudor England.
The other four windows of the east facade are identical to the tower window,
and there are two, one per floor, on either side of this central axis. Those
on the second floor are nlaced under very steen white-edged qables which
form circumflexes over the building (one presumes that the rooms behind
these accented windows would have been princinal bedrooms). The south facade
was originally alive with contrast between curves and anales: the harge-
boards under the many gables on this side seem today to have been almost
impossibly carved. These carvinas have been removed, and the facade todav
denends upon angles and size. It is a lona two bays deen; the first bay ,
consists of one window on each of the three floors, windows arowing increas-
inaly larae as they stretch aroundwards - there is a small four-light window
in the attic, a larger pair of 2/2 windows on the second floor, and a 3-
sided, hipned-roof, bav window on the around floor. The bay window has one
2/2 w1ndow in each of its exnosed sides, and has fine carved nanellina all
around helow its hinned roof. These windows, like all other windows in the
buildinag, are Tudor arched and have white vooden sills. To the west, the
larae qab]e is renlaced bv a small one (acain resembling a c1rcumf1ex) over
the second-story 2/2 window, which is vertically alianed above the around
2/2 windows. A larage expanse of chateau-stvle slate roof is exnosed on
this facade, a roof that is basically laid in grey rectanaular slates, but
is enlivened by 3 widely-spaced bands of red slate. The west facade of the
main cube is half taken up by a large gable that contains the connector

CONTINUE ON SEPARATE SHEET IF NECESSARY
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STATEMENT OF SIGNiFICANCE

"Terrace Hil1l", built, as the cornerstone says, by John L.
Reifsnider in 1873, stands as one of the few absolute landmarks in
the City of Westminster. Westminster's main architectural feature,
and probably its main strength, is in its unity fabric, house blends
into house, and block blends into block almost effortlessly, and
almost invisibly. From its beginnings in the middle of the 18th
century, the City has always been fairly conservative, if its buildings
are any reflection of their builders' personalities. !fhat Henry Glassie
has labeled the "Pennsylvania Farm House" took root not only in surrounding
Carroll County, but also up the length and breadth of Main Street in
Westminster. Generally speaking, whatever variety exists in the City's
buildings, exists in how individuals took a basic form and adapted it
to their needs. This was true through the end of the 1R8th century and
through all of the 19th century. It was true, that is, excent for a
few bold individuals who had the courage, and sophistication (that money
can give) to look bevond this basic form and to take note of what was
hanpening elsewhere in the country. A great many families achieved a
certain amount of economic success in the mid-19th century; the Smith,
Peese-Fletcher, and Wantz families all progressed substantially beyond
a subsistence level, and huilt houses vhich reflect this. However, their
houses were still in the Citv's basic building style. The Reifsnider
family, on the other hand, threw off this tradition and established new
standards, based on personal taste, nationwide fashions, and (it must be
admitted) excellence of craftsmanshio. The houses built by two brothers,
Charles at 230 East Main Street, and John here at "Terrace Hi11", mark
this phenomenon.

John Lawrence Reifsnider, Sr., was born October 19, 1836, in
Westminster. His family's history is tynical of that of a large segment
of Westminster's nopulation: one ancestor, Sebastian Peifsnider, was born
in the Palatinate in 1696, and later immigrated to the United States,
dying in Montqomery County, Pennsylvania, in 1755. His descendants moved
to Westminster through Pennsylvania (some lived in Readina) until another
Peifsnider, also named Sebastian, was found living in Tanevtown in 1800,
Jesse Peifsnider, John's father, moved to Westminster in the mid 1820's
according to an article in the Westminster Democratic Advocate. (But other
accounts sav that John L. Peifsnider was born in Westminster in 1836.)

CONTINUE ON SEPARATE SHEET IF NECESSARY
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between the cubes; to its north is a circumflexed 2/2 second-storv window,
and a small 15' x 15' x 15' cube. This cube has one 4/4 window on each of
its north and west facades, the latter facade also containing a Tudor-
arched door below a shed-roofed awning. The top of the cube is banded hy

a (surprisingly) simnle railina which protects the balconv located there,
and anproached by a door located anqularlv between the main cube and the
connector. The north facade of the main cube is identical to the south
facade excent that west of the bay window are two 2/2 windows, not one.
Interesting shed-roofed dormer windows Tight the attic on the north and west
facades just beyond the circumflexed second-story windows. The smaller cube,
located to the west, has identical north and south facades; each has two 2/2
reqularly-spaced windows on its two stories. (However, the north facade has
a_2/? window liaghting the attic which is formed by the very steeply-pitched,
slate-covered gable roof of this cube. )

The two cubes are connected bv a one hay wide hypnhen which maintains
the steen-roofed pattern of the house. There is one 2/? window on the second
floor of each of the north and south facades (the only flat-arched windows in
the building); the south facade obnosite the cube of the north facade has a
larae, square, oriel window, containing a pair of double 1/1 windows which
together form the requisite Tudor arch at their tons. There are three, two-
1ight basement windows on the south facade, west of the large bulkhead cellar
entrance located just west of the main cube's bay window.

Criainally, a third, and smaller vet, cube was nresent, and was used
for cold storage: veagetahles, notatoes, and ice. This cube had much less
intricately-carved hargehoards (but it is hard to think of a house that would
have had more intricately-carved woodwork than the Reifsnider House). It
abpears, judging from old nhotographs, to have heen largely windowless, but
to have had the usual vervy steep roof. The now nonexistent section was connected
to the rest of the house by a still-existing, one, 2/2 window, deer, hinpned-roofed
connector. The west wall, all in 5 course common bond brick, of this connector
displays, in the brickwork, changes that must have occurred when this third
section was removed.

01d photogranhs reveal other losses to the buildina, beyond the wood-
work in the gables: there seem to have been, at one time at least, a half dozen
corbel-capped chimneys punctuating the skvline over the house; all but two in
the main cube are aone (and these two caps are much simpler than their ancestors).
Other changes include the removal of two-thirds of the east facades front norch.

Photoqranhs and drawinas of "Terrace Hill" made durina the first 75
years of its existence, reveal an attemnt to create a villa suburbana to the
vest of Westminster. Reifsnider constructed, on his 4% acre Tot, an elaborate
comoound of areenhouses, a 5-storv windmill (from the top of which, accordina
to his aranddauahter, Miss Ann S. Peifsnider, one could see most of the county)
and, of course, fine stahles. The lot was handsomelv landscaped, had a varietyv
of cast iron lawn ornaments around the house and on the terraces that led down-
wards from this estate to the simoler houses of Westminster. Miss Reifsnider
esneciallv remembers that the lawn's cast iron deer and other animals would
usuallv disannear on Halloween night, havina been removed by boys from the nearby
nren school. There is a nhotogranh of another of the features of “Terrace Hill"
a three-tiered stone and iron fountain. The grounds are now bare of ornaments.
‘lhen the house was adanted to suit the administrative needs of “estern Maryland
College, the interior was similarly simplified. 1In nlan, the front cube was,
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and is, basically, a central-hall, double-parlor building, with halls runnina
to the rear in a circuitous manner to connect the rear rooms. A magnificent

pair of gilt and crystal chandeliers still exists in the double parlor on the
north side of the main cube: one of these pber room. Also remaining, are the

broad late-Yictorian bannister and handsome brass hardware around the entrance
door. (The hardware is verv similar to that to he found at the Smith-Figher-
Fletcher House, no. 254 East Main Street, and at the house built by Peifsnider's
brothar, Charles, at 230 Fast Main Street.)
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